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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Orchard House is located on a 2.1 acre parcel of land at the northwest corner of
Lexington Road and Alcott Road in Concord, Massachusetts. The property is low
and open along its southern and eastern edges and bounded by wooded slopes on the
north and west. The house, which faces south-south-east, stands approximately
100 feet from Lexington Road. About 75 feet northwest of it is the simple,
church-like building which housed Bronson Alcott's Concord Summer School of
Philosophy and Literature.

The earliest portion of Orchard House was constructed during the 18th century
but the building owes most of its present appearance to alterations and addi-
tions made to it after 1857 when it was purchased by the Alcott family. No
significant changes have been made in the building since that date.

In its present form, Orchard House is a 2 1/2-story frame and clapboard
building; its gabled roof is broken by a corbelled center chimmey and a broad
gable set in the center of the front slope. The attic story projects slightly
on the gable ends. At the rear of the building are two gabled-roofed ells, set
at right angles to each other, and two smaller shed-roofed additions. Windows
are 9/9, 6/9, and 6/6 double-hung sash topped by cornices or gabled hoods.

The main entrance to the house, at the center of the 5-bay front facade, is
covered by a l-story enclosed porch with a gabled roof. The main block of the
house follows a 4-room, center hall plan; the floor plan of the other portions
is irregular. The house appears to be in good condition generally though in
need of repainting and minor repair.

The School of Philosophy was constructed in 1879 under the direction of Bronson
Alcott, Ralph Waldo Emerson, and Frank Sanborn (journalist, philanthropist, and
author of valuable biographies of Alcott, Emerson, Thoreau, Hawthorne, and
others), and served its original purpose until 1888. In accordance with Alcott's
theories on architecture, the building was never painted but allowed to weather
and become a natural part of its environment. The School is a l-story board
and batten structure, measuring approximately 60 by 25 feet, with a gabled roof
(the present asbestos shingle covering is a replacement of the original roof).
Windows are 6/6 double-hung sash. At the eastern end of the south (front)
elevation is an enclosed, gabled-roofed entry porch containing 12 steps. The
interior of the School consists of a single room, open to the rafters, with a
seating capacity of 75 to 80. There is a low stage along the north (rear) wall
and a large stone fireplace at the western end of the room. The School now
stands some 30 feet southwest of its original location; it was moved because of
problems with erosion of the first site.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Orchard House was for 25 years- the home of Amos Bronson Alcott and his family, including
his daughter Louisa May Alcott, who wrote a part of Little Women here. An author,
educator, and Transcendental philosopher, Alcott established one of the first adult
summer schools in the eastern United States, the Concord Summer School of Philosophy

and Literature, which met in the building constructed for it near his home. Louisa

May Alcott is well known for her children's books, among them Little Women, An Old-
Fashioned Girl, Little Men, and Eight Cousins.

Orchard House is an unpretentious, 2 1/2 story frame structure with a central
chimney; it was begun during the 18th century and substantially altered and enlarged
by the Alcotts about 1857. The house and the adjacent school are owned by the Louisa
May Alcott Memorial Association; the house is open to the public from April to
November, from 10:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday through Saturday, 1:00 to 4:30 p.m.
Sunday.

Historical Background

Amos Bronson Alcott was born November 29, 1799, on a farm at Spindle Hill near Wolcott,
Connecticut. His formal education was limited, derived mainly from district schools
and a few months of tutoring from two local clergymen. At the age of nineteen, Alcott
went to Virginia hoping to teach but failed to secure a position. For the next four
and a half years, he traveled Virginia and the Carolinas as a pedlar.

Between 1823 and 1839, Alcott taught or operated his own school in Bristol, Wolcott,
and Chesire, Connecticut (1823-27), Germantown, Pennsylvania (1831-33), and Boston,
Massachusetts (1828-30; 1834-39). Though he was recognized as an able teacher, the
educational program he advocated was too far in advance of anything then known in
America to be generally accepted. Alcott's goal was the harmonious development of the
student's physical, esthetic, intellectual, and moral natures, with special emphasis

on the imagination. To achieve this, he introduced in his schools organized play,
gymastics, the honor system, and juvenile libraries; minimized corporal punishment;
beautified the school-rooms; and approached instruction and study as activities pleasant
in themselves rather than as the means to discipline and acquisition of knowledge.
Negative reaction to Alcott's program was only increased by the books he published--
The Record of a School, Exemplifying the General Principles of Spiritual Culture (1835),
and Conversations with Children on the Gospels (Volume I, 1836; Volume IT, 1837)—-

which made it clear that he was stimulating his students to independent thinking on
religious matters.

(Continued)
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Alcott had married Abigail May in 1830 and by 1840 was the father of a growing
family. 1In that year, deeply in debt, he moved from Boston to Concord, where

he attempted unsuccessfully to support his family by farming. For several years,
Alcott had corresponded with James Pierrepont Greaves, John Heraud, Charles Lane,
and Henry Wright, who together had founded a school near London which they called
"Alcott House," and in May, 1842, with money supplied by Ralph Waldo Emerson, he
went to England to visit his spiritual offspring. He returned in October with
Wright, Lane, and the latter's son William, who were to form the nucleus of a
Utopian community.

Many of the numerous cooperative communities established in America during the
mid-19th century failed but perhaps none of them so quickly and completely as
Alcott's Fruitlands. During the winter of 1843-44, Wright and the Lanes stayed
with Alcott at his home in Concord, where they worked out plans for the new
community. In the spring, Lane invested his savings in a hundred-acre tract
near the village of Harvard, Massachusetts, to which the party moved in June,
1844. Others joined the community during the summer; at its largest, it
included only eleven persons. Fruitlands was organized on vegetarian principles
but the crops were planted late and carelessly. At harvest time, the men left
to attend a reform meeting, and Mrs. Alcott and her daughters rescued what they
could from an impending storm. By winter, the Lanes and the Alcotts, the sole
remaining members of the community, were on the brink of starvation, and in
January, 1845, the undertaking was abandoned.

Over the next twelve years, the Alcott family lived in Concord (1845-57), Boston
(1848-54), and Walpole, New Hampshire (1855-57). 1In 1857, they returned to
Concord and began their residence at Orchard House. During this period (and
until the successful publication of Little Women in 1868), the family was
supported mainly through the efforts of Mrs. Alcott and Louisa May Alcott in
sewing, teaching, and even domestic service, supplemented by the assistance

of various friends.

In 1859, Alcott was appointed superintendent of the dozen schools in Concord,
where he introduced to the curriculum singing, calisthenics, and the study of
physiology; advocated the introduction of dancing, hours of directed conversa-
tion, and a course of reading aloud; and organized an informal parent-teachers
club. In 1879, he formed the Concord Summer School of Philosophy and Litera-
ture, the first adult summer school in the eastern United States, which met in
the building constructed for it adjacent to Orchard House. Though Alcott's
active participation in the School ended when he was paralyzed by a stroke in
1882, it continued to operate until his death in 1888.

{Continued)
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Louisa May Alcott, the second of Bronson Alcott's four daughters who lived to
maturity, was born at Germantown, Pennsylvania, on November 29, 1832, but spent
most of her life in Concord and Boston, Massachusetts. She was educated almost
entirely by her father, though she received friendly guidance from Emerson and
Thoreau and from her childhood was exposed to the conversation of Margaret Fuller,
Oliver Wendell Holmes, Henry James, Sr., and other scholars.

As a child, Miss Alcott earned money by making dolls' clothes and, after the
failure of the Fruitlands community, she worked continually to help support her
family. She began to write for publication at the age of sixteen and was always
concernad as much with the commercial as the artistic value of her work. Her
first book, a collection of fairy stories entitled Flower Fables, appeared in
1855. By 1860, her poems and stories were appearing in the Atlantic Monthly.

During the Civil War, Miss Alcott, who was an ardent abolitionist, became a
nurse in the Union Hospital at Georgetown, where she served efficiently until
she contracted typhoid fever and was sent home (she was never completely well
again). Her letters to her family, revised and published under the title
"Hospital Sketches" in the Commonwealth in 1863 and brought out the same year in
book form, excited wide interest.

In 1867, Miss Alcott became the editor of Merry's Museum, a magazine for
children. The next year she was asked by the Boston publishing firm of Roberts
Brothers to write a book for girls. She produced the autobiographical Little
Women (first volume, 1868; second, 1869), an immediate sucaess and one of the
most popular books for girls ever written. 1In 1869 she was able to write in her
journal "Paid up all the debts...thank the Lord!...Now I think I could die in
peace."

After 1869, much of Miss Alcott's work was done in rented residences in Boston,
though she continued to visit regularly at Orchard House. Her later works
include An 0ld-Fashioned Girl (1870), Little Men (1871), Eight Cousins (1875).
Under the Lilacs (1878), Jo's Boys (1886), and A Garland for Girls (1888). She
died on March 6, 1888, two days after the death of her father.

The Alcotts sold Orchard House in 1882. It was occupied as a residence until
1911 when the Concord Woman's Club decided to purchase the house as a permanent
memorial to Louisa May Alcott. The Louisa May Alcott Memorial Association was
subsequently organized to assume title to the property and operate Orchard House
as a museum. Many Alcott family pieces, including furniture, books, and
pictures, have since been returned to the house.
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Verbal Boundary Description: Orchard House

northeasterly along said southern line to its intersection with the southern line
of Parcel 4141; thence, easterly along said southern line (extended) to its inter-
section with the western curbline of Alcott Road; thence, southerly along said
western curbline to the point of beginning.



